Board of Education Policy Manual

DRAFT Nov. 13, 2018

Upon adoption by a vote of the Board, the policies in this Policy Manual shall supersede all Board policies in effect at the time of adoption, and such policies shall be recategorized as Administrative Regulations under the authority of the Superintendent.

Table of Contents

Table of Contents.		ii
Section 1 En	ds	2
Policy 1.1	Vision and Mission	2
Policy 1.2	Academics and Foundations	2
Policy 1.3	Equity	3
Policy 1.4	Character	3
Section 2 Exe	ecutive Limitations	4
Policy 2.1	Global Executive Limitation	4
Policy 2.2	Strategic Plan	4
Policy 2.3	Stakeholder participation	4
Policy 2.4	Non-Discrimination and Equitable Opportunities	4
Policy 2.5	Safety, Security, and Emergency Preparedness	5
Policy 2.6	Staff	5
Policy 2.7	Students and parents	6
Policy 2.8	Budgets	6
Policy 2.9	Asset protection	7
Policy 2.10	Community Relations	7
Section 3 Bo	ard of Education	8
Policy 3.1	Authority and Duty	8
Policy 3.2	Policies	8
Policy 3.3	Meetings	9
Policy 3.4	Officers	12
Policy 3.5	Members	13
Policy 3.6	Work Plan	19

Section 4 S	Superintendent	21
Policy 4.	1 Authority and Duty	21
Policy 4.	2 Succession Plan	21
Policy 4.	3 Continuous Monitoring and Reporting	21
Policy 4.	4 Annual Review	22
Policy 4.	5 Communications with the Board	22
Section 5	Definitions	23

Section 1 Ends

Policy 1.1 Vision and Mission

- a) Vision: We will build the foundation for all children to be their best, achieve their dreams, and make the world a better place.
- b) Mission: Our mission is to work with and inspire students to grow and develop their ability to learn, think, and inquire through meaningful, motivating, and rewarding learning experiences supported by highly qualified, caring adults in a safe, supportive and inviting community.

Policy 1.2 Academics and Foundations

a) To the extent possible given an equitable allocation of available resources, all students will graduate having attained their highest academic, intellectual, and personal potential, and will be prepared to thrive in life beyond high school.

b) Students will:

- 1) Think and solve problems using both creative and critical thinking skills;
- 2) Develop skills of inquiry;
- 3) Read, write, and speak effectively for a wide range of purposes, including the interpretation and analysis of both literary and informational texts;
 - 4) Understand the past and how the past influences the present and future;
- 5) Understand the history of the United States and significant events in world history and how they interrelate in an increasingly interconnected world;
- 6) Understand and apply fundamental economic concepts in the following domains: microeconomics, macroeconomics, international economics, and personal finance economics;
- 7) Demonstrate an understanding of and respect for human and intercultural differences and multiple perspectives;
- 8) Understand and demonstrate the basic concepts of fine, visual, and performing arts;
- 9) Know and apply mathematics and the Standards for Mathematical Practice to a level of fluency that ensures a broad range of post-secondary opportunities and career choices;
- 10) Seamlessly integrate the Three Dimensions of Science Education: science and engineering practices, crosscutting concepts, and disciplinary core ideas;
 - 11) Be proficient in one world language in addition to English upon graduation;

12) Understand and apply current and emerging technologies to demonstrate technology literacy and use technology to solve problems using both computational and critical thinking.

Policy 1.3 Equity

- a) To the extent possible given an equitable allocation of available resources, knowing a student's subgroup based on race, gender, or socioeconomic status will indicate nothing about how they are likely to achieve academically, how their behaviors will be managed, or what opportunities they will pursue within and beyond our school system.
 - b) Data will show:
 - 1) High levels of academic proficiency and growth in all subgroups;
 - 2) No gaps in academic performance between subgroups;
- 3) Student enrollments in advanced coursework similar to overall student demographics;
 - 4) Student discipline rates similar for all subgroups;
 - 5) High levels of student engagement in all subgroups;
 - 6) Students' post-secondary choices not being impacted by their subgroup.

Policy 1.4 Character

- a) Students will demonstrate character traits consistent with becoming responsible members of local, national, and global communities.
- b) Students will demonstrate proficiency in five core social and emotional learning competencies:
 - 1) Self-awareness
 - 2) Self-management
 - 3) Social awareness
 - 4) Relationship skills
 - 5) Responsible decision-making

Section 2 Executive Limitations

Policy 2.1 Global Executive Limitation

The Superintendent shall not fail ...

- a) To ensure that the Superintendent and District comply with all applicable federal and state laws and regulations, with all Board Policies, and with all Administrative Regulations.
 - b) To ensure that all employees of the District adhere to the highest ethical standards;
 - c) To preserve and protect the District's public image and reputation.
 - d) To create and maintain an organizational culture that
 - 1) Treats people with respect, dignity and courtesy.
 - 2) Encourages a free and open exchange of opinions and ideas;
 - 3) Reasonably includes people in decisions that affect them;
- 4) Encourages and practices open, honest, and timely communication in all written and interpersonal interaction;
 - 5) Strives to achieve the Board's Ends policies.

Policy 2.2 Strategic Plan

- a) The Superintendent shall not fail to develop and implement a Strategic Plan (AR 2.2(a)) establishing specific, measurable goals; specific action steps; and specific milestones, deadlines, and targets; to achieve the Ends set forth in Section 1.
- b) The Strategic Plan will be a living plan that guides the day-to-day work of the Superintendent and the Board, and therefore it will be updated on a continuing basis as needed to ensure the actions and initiatives of CSD follow the Strategic Plan.

Policy 2.3 Stakeholder participation

The superintendent shall not fail to develop and implement Administrative Regulations which define a stakeholder participation process including different levels of public participation depending on circumstances with a protocol corresponding to each level."

Policy 2.4 Non-Discrimination and Equitable Opportunities

a) Non-Discrimination Statement

The City Schools of Decatur celebrates diversity and is committed to ensuring that all students have equal opportunities and feel protected, respected, and valued. Discrimination on the basis of race,

ethnicity, national origin, color, religion, sex, gender identity, disability, age, marital status, or sexual orientation will not be tolerated.

b) Administrative Regulations.

The Superintendent shall not fail to develop and implement the following Administrative Regulations:

- 1) "Equitable Opportunity Regulations," AR 2.4(b)(1), to ensure the District complies with the letter and spirit of Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, Title II of the Vocational Education Amendments of 1976, Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, and the Americans with Disabilities Act, and any related state or federal laws; and to ensure that all students are treated in a manner consistent with their gender identity and to ensure that reasonable accommodations are provided to protect interests of all students.
 - 2) "Equity Action Plan" (AR 2.4(b)(2));

Policy 2.5 Safety, Security, and Emergency Preparedness

[Reserved]

Policy 2.6 Staff

The Superintendent shall not fail ...

- a) To provide appropriate training and other opportunities to enable staff to develop their skills to assist in achieving the Ends.
- b) To create, publicize, and keep up-to-date an "Employee Handbook" clearly informing all employees of their rights and responsibilities and relevant procedures.
 - c) To develop and implement the following Administrative Regulations:
- 1) "Salary Schedule," AR 2.4(c)(1), to provide salary schedules for all employee classifications, except the Superintendent's, whose salary is set by the Board.
- 2) "Recruiting," AR 2.4(c)(2), to establish procedures for the recruitment and hiring of diverse, qualified personnel. At a minimum, the regulation shall provide for ...
 - A. Active recruiting targeting a diverse pool of highly qualified candidates;
 - B. Background inquiries and checks prior to hiring any paid personnel or utilizing the services of any volunteers who have unsupervised contact with students.
 - 3) "Employee Protection," AR 2.4(c)(3),
 - A. To establish procedures to be followed in the event any employee is subject to discipline; and

- B. To ensure that confidential information pertaining to employees is protected.
- 4) "Employee Complaint Procedures," AR 2.4(c)(4), to establish procedures to ensure that all employees have a safe, secure, and appropriate means to resolve any complaints they may have regarding the circumstances of their employment.

Policy 2.7 Students and parents

The superintendent shall not fail ...

- a) To create an open and responsive environment that encourages parent involvement;
- b) To provide parents and students timely and relevant information on student progress;
- c) To ensure as a general rule that all students in grades K 5 receive at least 20 minutes of unstructured break time ("recess") every day, and that this time is not withheld for academic or disciplinary reasons. Exceptions to this general rule may be identified in Administrative Regulations.
 - d) To develop and implement the following Administrative Regulations ...
- 1) "Student Confidential Information," AR 2.5(b)(1), to ensure that confidential information pertaining to students, parents, and guardians is protected.
- 2) "Student and Community Complaints," AR 2.5(b)(2), to establish a safe and secure means to enable students, parents, and community members to air any complaints they may have with the Board, the Superintendent, or any CSD employee, without fear of retaliation, and to ensure that such complaints receive an appropriate response.
 - 3) "Wellness Plan," AR 2.5(d).

Policy 2.8 Budgets

The Superintendent shall not fail...

- a) To recommend annual budgets that ...
 - 1) Are aligned with the Ends Policies;
 - 2) Protect the District's long-term fiscal health;
 - 3) Are based on reasonable, but conservative projections of revenues and expenses;
 - 4) Disclose all material assumptions;
- 5) Explain how new, expanded, or eliminated budget initiatives are aligned with the Ends Policies;
 - 6) Separate capital and operational items;

- 7) Are developed in an open and transparent manner
- b) To provide timely notice to the Board of ...
 - 1) Any actual or anticipated material deviations from the adopted budget;
- 2) Any changes or conditions that reasonably are expected to materially affect the district's financial condition:

Policy 2.9 Asset protection

The Superintendent shall not fail ...

- a) To protect and maintain the District's assets and to ensure that all facilities are kept clean, in good repair, and in a condition conducive to teaching, learning, and accomplishing the Ends;
- b) To ensure that the District, Board, and staff are not unreasonably exposed to liability and are adequately insured against such eventualities;
 - c) To protect the District's information and files from loss or damage;
- d) To adhere to Generally Accepted Accounting Principles, as confirmed annually by an independent audit; and to respond to any findings noted in any audit by (1) identifying the action to be taken in response to the finding, including the schedule for any such action to be completed, and (2) providing notice to the Board when the actions identified in the response have been completed.
 - e) To maintain a five-year plan for managing, developing, and improving facilities;

Policy 2.10 Community Relations

The superintendent shall not fail ...

- a) To ensure the District maintains strong relations with state and local officials who interact with the District;
- b) To ensure that District interacts with the news media in a courteous, professional, even-handed, and transparent manner.

Section 3 Board of Education

Policy 3.1 Authority and Duty

a) City Schools of Decatur

City Schools of Decatur ("CSD") is a system of public schools established and continued under the authority of the Charter for the City of Decatur, Georgia, under an Act of the General Assembly approved September 12, 1889. The five-member elected local Board is a body corporate and politic that is empowered to engage in legal process and to enact such policies, bylaws, rules and regulations, not inconsistent with the laws of the State of Georgia or the United States, for the government of the Board, the Superintendent, teachers, and students of the school system, as the Board may deem proper.

b) Charter System

City Schools of Decatur is a Charter System as defined by the Georgia Charter System Act of 1998, O.C.G.A. § 20-2-2063 *et. seq.* The terms and conditions of the System Charter are set forth in the Charter Renewal Agreement.

Policy 3.2 Policies

a) Policy Manual

All Policies will be codified in this Policy Manual, and all Policies included in this Policy Manual will be diligently observed unless and until amended. The Policy Manual will be posted on the CSD website in a readily accessible and searchable format; and an up-to-date copy will be available to the Board for use at each Meeting.

b) Procedure

The Board may use any procedure it deems appropriate to adopt and amend Policies, depending on the circumstances at hand. The level of outreach will be commensurate with the importance of and public interest in the subject matter, but the following procedures will ordinarily be observed:

- 1) The need for a new or modified policy will first be discussed at a Meeting or Work Session. At that time, or at a subsequent meeting, the Board will develop a Policy Review Plan to be followed in developing the policy.
- 2) If any applicable state or federal requirement is potentially implicated by the proposed change, the Policy Review Plan will provide for legal constraints to be identified early in the process and for any final recommendation to be reviewed for compliance before it is presented to the Board for approval.
- 3) In most cases, the Policy Review Plan will call for the actual proposed language of any policy change to be made available to the public for comment at least 30 days before any vote is taken. The public notice should also provide a brief explanation of the purpose of the change, an invitation to interested persons to comment on the proposal, and instructions for doing so.

- 4) If the Board elects to utilize an advisory committee to provide input on the proposed policy, the Plan will include specific instructions regarding the composition of the committee and the committee's specific written charge.
- 5) When a proposed change to the Policy Manual is presented to the Board for approval, the proposal will be submitted to the Board together with the following information, which will be included in the Board Packet:
 - A. The purpose of the proposed change.
 - B. If the proposed policy is mandated by state or federal law, an explanation of the relevant law, including its full text if feasible; and, if the relevant law leaves room for the Superintendent or Board to exercise discretion, an explanation of what is mandated and what is discretionary.
 - C. If the Superintendent believes the content of a proposed policy is within his or her delegated authority, but that Board approval is required to satisfy a legal mandate, an express statement to this effect.
 - D. An explanation of the process used to develop the proposed policy, including but not limited to the identity of the members of any committees or advisory groups that were consulted.
 - E. A brief summary of the choices reflected in the proposal and the issues considered by the Superintendent in developing the options, including (A) a brief summary of any concerns that have been raised by stakeholders or the public, calling specific attention to any disagreements or points of controversy; and (B) the Superintendent's response to those concerns.

Policy 3.3 Meetings

a) Regular Meetings

At least one regular meeting will be held each month. The Board will set the time and place for each Regular Meeting for the entire calendar year at the first Regular Meeting of the calendar year ("First Meeting"). Unless otherwise noted, meetings will be held in the Board Room at Central Office at Beacon (125 Electric Avenue). The date and time of any meeting may be changed by agreement of the Board, provided sufficient notice of the change is provided in accordance with the Georgia Open Meetings Act.

b) Special Meetings

A special meeting of the Board may be called in accordance with the requirements of the Georgia Open Meetings Act at the discretion of the Chair.

c) Executive Sessions (Closed Meetings)

An executive session is a meeting that is lawfully closed to the public. The Board may meet in executive session for any of the purposes enumerated in the Georgia Open Meetings Act, O.C.G.A. § 50-14-04, provided the procedures set forth in that statute are followed. Discussion in Executive Session must be limited to the specific authorized purpose(s) for which the meeting is called, which

must be noted in the vote to convene the executive session, which must be taken in a properlynoticed open meeting. Each Member attending an executive session will execute an affidavit confirming that these procedures were followed. Minutes will be kept by the Board Secretary in accordance with the Georgia Open Meetings Act.

d) Work Sessions

The Board may hold work sessions to address special topics. Work Sessions are public meetings subject to all requirements of the Georgia Open Meetings Act. As a general rule, no vote or other official action will be taken at a work session. If a vote is anticipated, the meeting should be noticed as a Special Meeting rather than a Work Session.

e) Meeting Agendas and Board Packets

- 1) The Chair will set the agenda for each meeting in consultation with the Superintendent and other Members. The Chair will work with the Superintendent to ensure meeting agendas follow the Board Work Plan.
- 2) The Chair will strive to provide a draft of all meeting agendas to the entire Board and Superintendent before the meeting notice is published.
- 3) Any Member may request that an item be added to the agenda. Such requests should be presented to the Chair with a copy to the entire Board and Superintendent. When possible, such requests should be made at least two weeks (14 days) prior to the meeting. Subject to the notice requirements of the Georgia Open Meetings Act, the agenda for a meeting may also be amended at a meeting by majority vote of the Board in accordance with Robert's Rules of Procedure.
- 4) The Superintendent will distribute the Board Packet consisting of the meeting agenda and supporting information on the Friday prior to the meeting. Members will strive to ask substantive questions about the agenda prior to the meeting to give the Superintendent notice of the questions and time to prepare a response. If any materials in the Board Packet are changed after it is distributed, the changes will be shown in redline.
- 5) The consent agenda will be used to secure the Board's approval of items the Board is required to approve, but that are not controversial and do not require discussion. Examples include items for which the Board has delegated responsibility to the Superintendent, but which the Board is required to approve as a matter of state or federal law. Each item added to the consent agenda should clearly identify the action requested of the Board and the Superintendent's reasons for requesting Board approval rather than acting on his or her own authority. Any item on the consent agenda shall be removed from it upon request by any Member. To minimize surprises, Members will strive make such requests in advance of the meeting.

f) Spotlights

The Superintendent will identify and coordinate the Spotlight for each meeting. Except in rare cases, the Spotlight will be limited to 10 minutes. It will be the Superintendent's responsibility to ensure that persons presenting the Spotlight are informed of the time limit and are prepared to honor it.

g) Public Input

- 1) Public input can be expressed by emailing, writing, or calling Members, meeting with a Member, or speaking during the Public Comment portion of a Regular Meeting. Emails should be addressed to Board@csdecatur.net, a distribution list including all Members and the Superintendent.
- 2) Before addressing the Board, individuals are urged to seek a satisfactory solution to their concerns by following the proper staff and administrative channels.
- 3) The opportunity to address the Board during Public Comment is limited to District parents, students, residents, employees, businesses, and organizations.
- 4) Persons wishing to address the Board during Public Comment must sign in before the Public Comment period begins, and in doing so will be asked to state their connection to CSD and/or to the City of Decatur within the categories set forth in Paragraph (3) above.
- 5) To allow time for the Board's other business, Public Comment will ordinarily be limited to one hour and 20 minutes. At the Board's discretion, the comment period may be extended for a specified amount of time or a specific number of additional speakers.
- 6) The Chair will determine the time limit for all speakers at the beginning of Public Comment based on the total number wishing to speak. In no case will any speaker be given more than 5 minutes. Persons who fail to sign in prior to the Public Comment period may be allowed to speak at the Chair's discretion if time permits.
- 7) Persons requiring technical assistance or any other support may request it from staff members present at the meeting.
- 8) Persons speaking during Public Comment will not be permitted to "yield the floor" or "transfer" unused time to other speakers.
- 9) Any group consisting of three or more persons wishing to make a longer presentation or to utilize display technology may request permission to do so by contacting the Superintendent's office by 3 pm the day prior to the meeting. Such groups may be allocated additional time at the Chair's discretion. The members of any group availing itself of this procedure must sign in before the Public Comment period begins.
- 10) Comments during Public Comment should be addressed to the Board as a body, and not to individual Members. At the Chair's discretion, persons violating this policy may be asked to step down.
- 11) Speakers should be courteous and professional. Speakers may offer objective criticisms of school operations and programs, but the Board will not hear complaints about specific personnel or individuals connected with the District in a public session. Other channels provide a more appropriate forum for consideration and resolution of legitimate complaints involving individuals.
- 12) Individuals will not be denied the opportunity to address the Board on the basis of their viewpoint. However, the Board will not allow abusive language, threats, comments, jeers,

applause, or shouts from the floor. Disruptive persons will be asked to leave the meeting room. The Chair may terminate public comments that are profane, vulgar, defamatory, or disruptive.

- 13) Speakers may not address confidential student or personnel matters, but may submit such concerns to the Superintendent in writing.
- 14) Speakers are encouraged to provide the Board with a written copy of their comments and other appropriate supporting documentation.
- 15) When an issue arises that stimulates a high degree of community interest, the Board may schedule a Special Meeting or Work Session to solicit input following such procedures as the Board deems appropriate.
- 16) Members will not address persons presenting Public Comment or speak to the substance of any comments made, except to acknowledge the commenters and/or to ask questions for clarification.
- 17) The Board may establish other guidelines necessary for the efficient and orderly operation of Public Comment at any time.

Policy 3.4 Officers

a) Officer Elections

Officer elections will be held at the first Regular Meeting each calendar year ("First Meeting"). A Chair and a Vice Chair will be elected. The following process will be used:

- 1) Any Member wishing to stand for election for either office will make their interest known to all other Members prior to the First Meeting.
- 2) At the First Meeting, the Chair will cede the gavel to the Superintendent for purposes of the officer election.
- 3) The Superintendent will accept nominations for Chair. Any Member may nominate his or herself for either position. No second is required. The vote will be taken by signed ballot immediately after the nominations have closed. The Superintendent will then read the ballots, stating each Member's vote to be recorded in the minutes. The same process will be used to elect the Vice Chair, with nominations being accepted after the new Chair has been elected.
- 4) If the election results in a change of officers, the Superintendent will call a recess, and the Members will rearrange their seating based on the outcome of the election. The Superintendent will return control of the meeting to the newly elected Chair.

b) Responsibilities

The primary role of the Chair is to preside at meetings and to develop meeting agendas in consultation with the Superintendent. The primary role of the Vice Chair is to perform these functions in the Chair's absence. In the absence of the Chair and Vice Chair, the three remaining Members will appoint one Member to serve as temporary Chair.

Policy 3.5 Members

a) Authority

The Board of Education exists only as a body, and operates solely by majority vote. Accordingly, no Member has any authority in relation to the Superintendent or City Schools of Decatur except (1) when acting together with a majority of the Board at a lawful meeting; or (2) when discharging authority delegated to the Member by a majority of the Board at a lawful meeting.

b) Responsibilities

Members will ...

- 1) Make every effort to attend every meeting, work session, and executive session;
- 2) Review the agenda and any supporting information supplied by the Superintendent in advance of every meeting; and
- 3) Submit questions about the agenda to the Superintendent and other Members as soon as possible in advance of the meeting.
- 4) Respond promptly to any communications from the Superintendent or other Members.
 - 5) Make every effort to attend the following CSD events:
 - A. Staff Opening Day
 - B. Decatur Business Association "State of the City" Address
 - C. High School graduation
 - D. Periodic meetings with community partners

c) Information Requests

Without limiting informal conversation, Members' formal requests for information from the Superintendent should be addressed to both the Superintendent and the Board. The Superintendent will inform the Board if any such request appears unreasonable or cannot be fulfilled for any reason, in which case the request may be presented to the entire Board for consideration.

d) Code of Ethics

Each Member agrees that he or she will:

- 1) Domain I: Governance Structure
 - A. Recognize that the authority of the Board rests only with the Board as a whole and not with individual Members and act accordingly.

- B. Support the delegation of authority for the day-to-day administration of the school system to the Superintendent and act accordingly.
- C. Honor the chain of command and refer problems or complaints consistent with the chain of command.
- D. Recognize that the Superintendent should serve as secretary, ex-officio to the Board and should be present at all meetings of the Board except when his or her contract, salary or performance is under consideration.
- E. Not undermine the authority of the Superintendent or intrude into responsibilities that properly belong to the Superintendent or school administration, including such functions as hiring, transferring or dismissing employees.
- F. Use reasonable efforts to keep the Superintendent informed of concerns or specific recommendations that any Member may bring to the Board.

2) Domain II: Strategic Planning

- A. Reflect through actions that his or her first and foremost concern is for the educational welfare of children attending schools within the school system.
- B. Participate in all planning activities to develop the vision and goals of the Board and the school system.
- C. Work with the Board and the Superintendent to ensure prudent and accountable uses of the resources of the school system.
- D. Render all decisions based on available facts and his or her independent judgment and refuse to surrender his or her judgment to individuals or special interest groups.
- E. Uphold and enforce all applicable laws, all rules and regulations of the State Board of Education and the Board and all court orders pertaining to the school system.

3) Domain III: Board and Community Relations

- A. Seek regular and systemic communications among the Board and students, staff and the community.
- B. Communicate to the Board and the Superintendent expressions of public reaction to Board policies and school programs.

4) Domain IV: Policy Development

A. Work with other Members to establish effective policies for the school system.

- B. Make decisions on policy matters only after full discussion at publicly held Board meetings.
- C. Periodically review and evaluate the effectiveness of policies on school system programs and performance.

5) Domain V: Board Meetings

- A. Attend and participate in regularly scheduled and called Board meetings.
- B. Be informed and prepared to discuss issues to be considered on the Board agenda.
- C. Work with other Members in a spirit of harmony and cooperation in spite of differences of opinion that may arise during the discussion and resolution of issues at Board meetings.
- D. Vote for a closed executive session of the Board only when applicable law or Board policy requires consideration of a matter in executive session.
- E. Maintain the confidentiality of all discussions and other matters pertaining to the Board and the school system, during executive session of the Board.
- F. Make decisions in accordance with the interests of the school system as a whole and not any particular segment thereof.
- G. Except as relates to matters discussed in Executive Session or exempt from disclosure under O.C.G.A. 50-18-72, nothing in this Policy Manual shall be construed as preventing any Member from discussing freely the policies and actions of the Board outside of a Meeting.
 - H. Abide by all decisions of the Board.

6) Domain VI: Personnel

- A. Consider the employment of personnel only after receiving and considering the recommendation of the Superintendent.
- B. Support the employment of persons best qualified to serve as employees of the school system and insist on regular and impartial evaluations of school system staff.
- C. Comply with all applicable laws, rules, regulations, and all Policies regarding employment of family members.

7) Domain VII: Financial Governance

A. Refrain from using the position of Member for personal or partisan gain or to benefit any person or entity over the interest the school system.

- B. Devote sufficient time, thought and study to the performance of the duties and responsibilities of a Member.
- C. Become informed about current educational issues by individual study and through participation in programs providing needed education and training.
- D. Communicate in a respectful professional manner with and about fellow Members.
- E. Take no private action that will compromise the Board or school system administration.
- F. Participate in all required training programs developed for Members by the Board or the State Board of Education.
- G. File annually with the Superintendent and with the State Board of Education a written statement certifying that he or she is in compliance with this Code of Ethics.

Note: Except as necessary to conform to this Policy Manual, this Code of Ethics is identical to the Model Code of Ethics developed by the State Board of Education.

References:

O.C.G.A. § 20-2-49 ("Legislative findings") O.C.G.A. § 20-2-72 (a) requiring State Board of Education adopt a Model Code of Ethics for Local Members & (b) requiring each local Board to adopt a code of ethics that includes, at a minimum, such model code of ethics. SBOE Rule 160-5-1-.36 (2)(a) SBOE rule relating to the adoption of a model code of ethics.

O.C.G.A. § 20-2-49 ("Legislative findings").

O.C.G.A. § 12-2-72(a) (requiring State Board of Education adopt a Model Code of Ethics for Local Members) & (b) requiring each local board to adopt a code of ethics that includes, at a minimum, such model code of ethics).

SBOE Rule 160-5-1-.36(a)(1) (SBOE rule relating to the adoption of a model code of ethics)

e) Conflict of Interest Policy

No Member will:

- 1) Use or attempt to use his or her official position to secure unwarranted privileges, advantages, or employment for himself or herself, his or her immediate family member, or others.
- 2) Act in his or her official capacity in any matter where he or she, his or her immediate family member, or a business organization in which he or she has an interest has a material financial interest that would reasonably be expected to impair his or her objectivity or independence of judgment. Compliance with O.C.G.A. § 20-2-505 shall not constitute a violation of this subparagraph.

- 3) Solicit or accept or knowingly allow his or her immediate family member or a business organization in which he or she has an interest to solicit or accept any gift, favor, loan, political contribution, service, promise of future employment, or other thing of value based upon an understanding that the gift, favor, loan, political contribution, service, promise of future employment, or other thing of value was given or offered for the purpose of influencing that Member in the discharge of his or her official duties. This paragraph shall not apply to the solicitation or acceptance of contributions to the campaign of an announced candidate for elective public office if the Member has no knowledge or reason to believe that the campaign contribution, if accepted, was given with the intent to influence the Member in the discharge of his or her official duties. For purposes of this subparagraph, a gift, favor, loan, contribution, service, promise, or other thing of value shall not include the items contained in subparagraphs (a)(2)(A) through (a)(2)(J) of O.C.G.A. § 16-10-2.
- 4) Use, or knowingly allow to be used, his or her official position or any information not generally available to the members of the public which he or she is associated.
- 5) Shall represent, either in his or her individual capacity or through a or business organization in which he or she has an interest, any person or party other than the Board or CSD in connection with any cause, proceeding, application, or other matter pending before CSD or the Board or in any proceeding involving CSD or the Board.
- 6) Be prohibited from making an inquiry for information on behalf of a constituent if no fee, reward, or other thing of value is promised to, given to, or accepted by the Member or his or her immediate family member in return therefor.
- 7) Disclose or discuss any information which is subject to attorney-client privilege belonging to the Board to any person other than other Members, the Board attorney, the Superintendent, or persons designated by the Superintendent for such purposes unless such privilege has been waived by a majority vote of the whole Board.
- 8) Also be an officer of any organization that sells goods or services to CSD, except as provided in O.C.G.A. § 20-2-505 and excluding nonprofit membership organizations.
- 9) Be deemed in conflict with paragraph (6)(a) of this rule, if, by reason of his or her participation in any matter required to be voted upon, no material or monetary gain accrues to him or her as a member of any profession, occupation, or group to any greater extent than any gain could reasonably be expected to accrue to any other member of that profession, occupation, or group.

f) Enforcement and Sanctions

Upon a motion supported by a two-thirds (2/3) vote, the Board may choose to conduct a hearing concerning a possible violation of this Code of Ethics by a Member. The Member accused of violating this Code of Ethics will have thirty (30) days' notice prior to a hearing on the matter. The accused Member may bring witnesses on his or her behalf to the hearing, and the Board may elect to call witnesses to inquire into the matter. If found by a vote of two-thirds of all the Members of the Board that the accused Member has violated this Code of Ethics, the Board shall determine an appropriate sanction. A Member subject to sanction may, within thirty (30) days of such sanction vote, appeal such decision to the State Board of Education in accordance with the rules and regulations of the State Board of Education. A record of the decision of the Board to sanction a

Member for a violation of this Code of Ethics shall be placed in the permanent minutes of the Board. *See* SBOE Rule 160-5-1-.36(6)(b).

Note: The Conflict of Interest policy set forth above is taken verbatim from SBOE Rule 160-5-1-.36(6)(a)&(b).

g) Anti-Nepotism Policy

- 1) No person who has an immediate family member sitting on the Board or employed by CSD in the Central Office, including as Superintendent, or as a Principal or Assistant Principal, shall be eligible to serve as a Member if the immediate family member's employment in his or her position at CSD began on or after January 1, 2010. Nothing in this paragraph shall affect the employment of any person who was employed by CSD on or before July 1, 2009, or who is already employed by CSD when an immediate family member becomes a Member.
- 2) No person shall be eligible to serve as Superintendent who has an immediate family member sitting on the Board or who has an immediate family member hired as or promoted to a Principal, Assistant Principal, or Central Office on or after July 1, 2009, provided that the immediate family member's employment in his or her position in CSD began on or after January 1, 2010. Nothing in this Paragraph shall affect the employment of any person who is employed by CSD on or before July 1, 2009, or who is employed by CSD when an immediate family member becomes Superintendent.

Note: Rule 160-5-1.36(5) requires every local Board to adopt an anti-nepotism policy including certain minimum requirements. The only difference between the policy set forth above and the required minimum is that elements that do not apply to CSD have been deleted.

h) Use of Purchasing Cards and Credit Cards Prohibited

Members will not be issued government purchasing cards and/or credit cards.

Note: O.C.G.A. § 36-80-24(d) forbids local governing bodies from issuing such cards to Members except in accordance with a formal policy to authorize and govern their use.

i) Compensation and Benefits

1) Per diem and Expenses

Members will receive a per diem of \$50.00 and reimbursement for actual expenses reasonably incurred for each day of attendance at a Meeting and for each day meeting or traveling within or outside the state as a Member on official CSD business first authorized by the Board, provided (a) the Member is actually present at such Meeting not later than 15 minutes after the time it is scheduled to convene; (b) the Member does not leave the meeting until it has been adjourned. The accounts for such service and expenses shall be submitted for approval to the Superintendent.

O.C.G.A. § 20-2-55.

SBOE Rule 160-5-1-.36(4)(b).

Charter of the City of Decatur, GA (Adopted Feb. 5, 2001) Part I, Article VII, Sec. 7.12.

2) Health benefits

Members may participate at their own cost in any of the personal liability, life, health, health care, accident, disability, salary protection or other form of insurance made available to district staff if plan sponsors permit such participation.

Policy 3.6 Work Plan

The Board will adopt a Work Plan at the beginning of each calendar year. The Work Plan will include the following at a minimum: (a) a review of Ends Policies (Section 1) to determine if any Policies should be adopted or amended; (b) a plan to monitor the Superintendent's progress toward achieving the Ends Policies and complying with Executive Limitations (Section 2); and (c) a plan for the Board to assess its own performance and to obtain continuing education.

a) Annual Cycle

The Chair will present a draft Work Plan for the Board's consideration at the February meeting each year. The Work Plan will be presented as an action item at the March Meeting.

b) Contents of Work Plan

The Work Plan should include the following:

- 1) Decision points: A list of major decisions requiring Board approval during the upcoming year and the schedule and procedures to be followed in making those decisions. Examples include decisions regarding attendance zones, the approval of master plans, approval of the budget, etc.
- 2) Monitoring and review: A prioritized schedule establishing an annual cycle for the Board to review Monitoring Reports submitted by the Superintendent.
- 3) Superintendent's evaluation and contract: The schedule and procedure that will be used to set goals for the Superintendent and to assess the Superintendent's performance against

those goals. The plan will also identify any dates or milestones arising from the Superintendent's contract of employment, such as the date by which the contract must be terminated or extended, and dates by which any bonus must be awarded.

- 4) Board training and self-assessment: The schedule and procedure the Board will use to evaluate and improve its own performance, to ensure that new Members receive orientation, and to ensure that existing Members fulfill the continuing education requirements established by GDOE.
- 5) Meeting schedule: To the extent possible, the Work Plan should also identify topics for which work sessions may be needed or desired, along with a tentative schedule for those meetings.

Section 4 Superintendent

Policy 4.1 Authority and Duty

a) Responsibilities

As Chief Executive Officer of the City Schools of Decatur, it is the responsibility of the Superintendent to achieve the Ends identified in Section 1 subject to the Executive Limitations identified in Section 2 , and to interact with the Board in the manner described in this Section 4.

b) Policy Governance

While always reserving authority to amend its Policies to eliminate ambiguity or to provide more specific direction, the Board declares that the Superintendent is fully authorized to proceed in accordance with any reasonable interpretation of existing Policies.

c) Support of Board Functions

The Superintendent will serve as non-voting Secretary to the Board and provide logistical and administrative support to the Board and any Board Committees, as requested.

Policy 4.2 Succession Plan

The Superintendent shall not fail to develop and implement an Administrative Regulation ("Succession Plan," AR 4.2), to ensure that CSD employees are trained and ready to assume the Superintendent's responsibilities in the event the Superintendent is unavailable for any reason. The Succession Plan should include the following elements at a minimum:

- 1) Measures for both short-term and long-term absences;
- 2) Specific annual training objectives for each individual identified in the plan.

Policy 4.3 Continuous Monitoring and Reporting

The Superintendent will be accountable to the Board to achieve the Ends set forth in Section 1 subject to the Executive Limitations identified in Section 2.

a) Monitoring Reports

The Board will monitor the Superintendent's performance continuously. To enable the Board to fulfill this responsibility, the Superintendent will submit Monitoring Reports detailing the Superintendent's interpretation of each Policy set forth in Section 1 (Ends) and Section 2 (Executive Limitations); the means that have been employed to achieve and/or comply with them; and a corrective action plan to address any known deficiencies. Monitoring reports will be submitted on the schedule identified in the Board Work Plan described in Policy 3.6b)2).

b) Corrective Action

If the Board determines at any time that the Superintendent has failed either to achieve the Ends identified in Section 1 or to observe the Executive Limitations identified in Section 2, the Board may amend the relevant Policy to remove any ambiguity or to provide additional direction. If the Board determines that no change to any Policy is necessary, but that Superintendent has acted in manner that is not consistent with any reasonable interpretation of existing Policies, the Board shall initiate appropriate evaluative and/or disciplinary proceedings in Executive Session.

Policy 4.4 Annual Review

The Board will review and summarize its assessment of the Superintendent's performance at least annually, as set forth in the Superintendent's contract of employment. In doing so, the Board will not hold the Superintendent accountable for any expectation that is not reflected in Policy or in Goals provided to the Superintendent in accordance with the Work Plan.

Policy 4.5 Communications with the Board

In addition to systematic monitoring and reporting discussed above, the Superintendent will use his or her best efforts ...

- a) To ensure that any information presented to the Board by CSD staff is both accurate and complete, in the sense of including any information a responsible decision maker would reasonably desire:
- b) To inform the entire Board of any actual, potential, or alleged non-compliance with any Policy, of which he or she is aware, regardless of the monitoring schedule set forth in the Work Plan;
- c) To inform the entire Board of any event, circumstance, proceeding, or decision, of which he or she is aware, with the potential to be covered in the press or to generate controversy or concern among the stakeholders of CSD (including students, parents, staff, and the community as a whole);
- 1) To state explicitly, when information is provided to the Board, whether input is sought or whether the information is being provided "for informational purposes only";
- 2) To respond to questions and provide information requested by the Board through the procedures detailed in Policy 3.5c);
- 3) To correct any deficiencies in the achievement of or compliance with any Policy immediately upon discovering them.

Section 5 Definitions

"Board Packet" means the materials distributed by the Superintendent prior to a Meeting, as described in Policy 3.3e)

"Board" means the body composed of all five elected Members of the Board of Education.

"CSD" means the City Schools of Decatur.

"First Meeting" means the first Regular Meeting of the calendar year.

"Meeting" means any gathering of a Quorum at which school business is discussed or conducted.

"Member" means an elected member of the Board of Education.

"Policy Review Plan" means a plan adopted by the Board setting forth the procedures to be followed in developing or considering any new or amended Policy, as described in Policy 3.2b)1).

"Policy" means a statement or direction adopted by the Board and set forth in this Policy Manual.

"Public Comment" means the portion of a Regular Meeting at which the general public may address the Board, as described in Policy 3.3g).

"Quorum" means three (3) Members.

"Regulation" means a rule or procedure adopted by the Superintendent to implement the Policies of the Board.

"Work Session" means a Meeting of the Board at which no official action is expected to be taken.